IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.

PEDRO MEDINA,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BRADFORD COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MARTIN J. MCCLAIN Litigation Director Florida Bar No. 0754773

JENNIFER M. COREY Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0999717

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE Post Office Drawer 5498 Tallahassee, FL 32314-5498 (904) 487-4376

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of the circuit court's denial of Mr. Medina's motion for relief pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.811.

The following symbols will be used to designate references to the record in this appeal:

"R" -- record on direct appeal to this Court;

"PC-R" -- record on January, 1997, 3.850 appeal to this Court from Orange County;

"PC-R2" -- record on January, 1997 3.811 appeal to this Court from Bradford County;

"PC-R3" -- record on appeal after February 1997 evidentiary hearing;

"11/7/89 T." -- transcript of proceedings conducted 11/7/89 (one volume numbered pages 1-41);

"Def. Ex." -- exhibits submitted at the 1988 evidentiary hearing;

"PC-R3. Ex." -- exhibits submitted at the 1997 evidentiary hearing;

"App." -- appendix to the 1987 Rule 3.850 motion; "H." -- Transcript of 1988 evidentiary hearing testimony; "H2." -- Transcript of 1997 evidentiary hearing testimony.

INTRODUCTION

Mr. Medina was afforded an evidentiary hearing on whether he is competent to be executed. During the hearing, Mr. Medina ate feces, talked to himself, in various languages, growled, sang to himself, faced the wall with his back to his counsel, slept, and was completely oblivious to the proceedings. However, the evidentiary hearing did not comport with <u>Ford v. Wainwright</u>, the Fifth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments, or the Ex Post Facto Clause.

In Ford v. Wainwright, 477 U.S. 399 (1986), a somewhat fractured United States Supreme Court held that the Eighth Amendment protects individuals from the cruel and unusual punishment of being executed while insane. Justice Marshall writing for four justices specifically found executing the insane violated the Eighth Amendment. He further discussed the procedural safeguards necessary to protect the rights of the insane under sentence of death. Justice Powell wrote separately and provided a fifth and deciding vote for the holding that the Eighth Amendment prohibited the execution of the insane. Justice Powell, however, did not agree with Justice Marshall as to procedural safeguards necessary to protect the recognized right. In finding the execution of insame people unusual in Anglo-American law, Justice Powell found two justifications for finding it cruel: executing the insane has for centuries been considered "such a miserable spectacle . . . of extreme inhumanity and cruelty that it can be no example to others," and it goes against

common religious and cultural mores to send someone to his death "when he is not of a capacity to fit himself for it." Ford, at 421 (Powell, J., concurring) (internal citations and quotation marks omitted). Given that a majority of the United States Supreme Court has held the Eighth Amendment prohibits judicial execution of the insane, principles of due process must be applied to protect a condemned man's very great interest in not being executed at a time when he suffers from mental illness that prevents him from "comprehending the reasons for the penalty or its implications." Id., at 417 (plurality opinion of Marshall, J.).

Consideration must also be given to the separate opinion of Justice O'Connor concurring in part and dissenting in part.¹ Justice O'Connor did not agree that the Eighth Amendment precluded the execution of the insane, but instead found that the State of Florida "has created a protected liberty interest in avoiding execution while incompetent." <u>Id</u>. at 427. As a result, the state-created entitlement "trigger[ed] the demands of the Due Process Clause." <u>Id</u>. at 429.

In Mr. Medina's case, the issue is whether the procedural protections adopted by the State of Florida after the decision in <u>Ford</u> have run afoul of the Eighth Amendment principles recognized in the opinions of Justices Marshall and Powell or the due process principles recognized in the opinion of Justice O'Connor. This is the first time since the adoption of the permanent rule

¹Justice White joined this opinion.

the issue has arisen. <u>See In re: Amendment to the Florida R.</u> <u>Crim. Pro.</u>, 518 So. 2d 256 (Fla. 1987).

On January 10, 1997, undersigned counsel for Mr. Medina filed a motion seeking an evidentiary hearing on Mr. Medina's competency to be executed. Without reaching the issue of the proper burden of proof, the circuit court ruled that counsel had not established that an evidentiary hearing was even warranted. Mr. Medina appealed that decision.

On February 10, 1997, this Court agreed with Mr. Medina that the lower court abused its discretion in denying Mr. Medina's motion for stay of execution pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.811(e) and ordered that an evidentiary hearing be held regarding Mr. Medina's competency to be executed. <u>Medina v.</u> <u>State</u>, 22 Fla. L. Weekly S75, (Fla. Feb. 21, 1997). The Order required that the evidentiary hearing take place and be decided within twenty-one (21) days. <u>Id.</u> at S78. The Court mandated that evidence was to be received as allowed in Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.812(d), and that the clear and convincing standard of proof contained in Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.812(e) would be applied. <u>Id.</u> at S77. Counsel were forbidden to request rehearing on any issue. <u>Medina v. State</u>, Nos. 89,758 & 89,762, slip op. at 10 (Fla. Feb. 10, 1997).²

²In this opinion, the majority of this Court attached significance to a pretrial finding of competency which is now fourteen years old. In more recent post-conviction proceedings, the competency issue was found procedurally barred because of the failure to pursue it on direct appeal and at the same time the presiding judge found that Mr. Medina's trial counsel had been advised that Mr. Medina "was psychotic," that the decision to not

The standards and procedures set out in Rule 3.812, and the way they were applied by the circuit court on remand, violated Mr. Medina's rights under the Ex Post Facto Clause and the Fifth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. At the beginning of the proceedings below, counsel registered an objection to the standards and procedures being applied. During closing argument, the objections were renewed.

Quite simply Rule 3.812 does not comport with Ford, due process, the Eighth Amendment, the Fourteenth Amendment or the Ex Post Facto Clause. Although Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.010 specifically excludes Rules 3.811 and 3.812 from the scope of the rules, strict procedural and evidentiary rules were applied differentially against Mr. Medina, including the preclusion of a case in rebuttal refuting allegations in the state's case-in-chief. The lower court also found that Rule 3.812 precluded any consideration of Mr. Medina's "mental pathologies or infirmities." Opinion Regarding Defendant's Insanity to Be Executed at 15. Confined within the temporal, evidentiary, procedural, and juridical limitations imposed on him, Mr. Medina's right not to be executed while insane has not been protected.

The lower court's order did not resolve the problems in this case. Rather, it put them into sharper relief. It exposed Mr.

present this evidence was reasonable, and that the unrefuted fact that Mr. Medina was "psychotic" "was derogatory and would have had, if anything, an adverse effect on the jury." Order 2/6/89 at 8. At the evidentiary hearing in 1988, it was uncontested that Mr. Medina was "psychotic" and it was accepted as fact.

Medina to a great risk of an erroneous competency determination. All risks of an erroneous determination were born by Mr. Medina when the court required Mr. Medina and not the State to bear the risks. This does not comport with the Eighth Amendment right recognized in <u>Ford</u>. Nor does it comport with the due process principles discussed by Justice O'Connor. Finally, it does not comport with the Ex Post Facto Clause since Rule 3.812 altered Mr. Medina's situation to his disadvantage.

Here, a man with judicially recognized mental illnesses was asked to marshall his evidence on two weeks notice to prove by clear and convincing evidence that he lacks the mental capacity merely to know the fact of his pending execution and why it is to be imposed. It was undisputed by the mental health experts that if Mr. Medina's symptoms were real and not faked then he was crazy (R. 711-12, 714, 716). The question boiled down to whether Mr. Medina was and is malingering or insane. In order to resolve that issue with certainty, Mr. Medina's counsel should have been afforded time and resources to marshall and develop evidence. Neither Mr. Medina nor his counsel can place him in a secured mental institution for sixty to ninety days in order to obtain the only proof which would meet the burden imposed upon him. The State has precluded Mr. Medina from having the opportunity to gather the clear and convincing evidence required by Rule 3.812. As to Mr. Medina, the ultimate catch-22 has been created. The State has given the right, but denied the means to vindicate it.

If the lower court's resolution stands, Mr. Medina will go to execution, perhaps knowing some event is to happen, but believing it is for something that happened in Cuba; believing he died in 1979 and lives in a picture on his mother's wall so it doesn't matter if he is executed; or believing he will be going on a mission to the moon. When the seemingly innocuous facts of his compliant responses to the prison personnel are viewed in the proper context of his delusions, denial and other primitive unconscious defenses, Pedro Medina's mental state is not within the <u>Ford</u> standard.

Judge Conrad recognized that probably Mr. Medina is mentally ill, but he found that clear and convincing proof of his incompetency was not presented. Thus, Mr. Medina probably cannot make a rational connection between the murder of Dorothy James and his execution. He probably cannot prepare himself for execution. His death will probably be an example only of morbid cruelty. But since clear and convincing evidence is lacking, the risk of an erroneous determination rests with him, not the State of Florida.

There's the rub. Where evidence is subject to interpretations that come so close to tipping the scales one way or the other, who bears the risk of the wrong answer? According to what standard and by what reasoning? As will be demonstrated <u>infra</u>, the case law provides a clear answer: the state must bear the risk that Mr. Medina would be found incompetent, for whatever

period of time, rather than have Mr. Medina and society bear the risk of executing an insame man.

The risk to the state in this case is infinitesimal compared to the risk to Mr. Medina. Sixty to ninety days of psychiatric care and observation of Mr. Medina would resolve any doubts and might even produce a more mentally healthy Pedro Medina. Mr. Medina is not competent to be executed by any civilized standard, but he has been prejudiced by a process skewed against him.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 14, 1982, the Grand Jury for Orange County, Florida, indicted Mr. Medina for the first-degree murder of Dorothy Clarke James (R. 1518). On June 15, 1982, a warrant was issued for Mr. Medina's arrest on the murder charge and on a charge of grand theft (R. 1520).

Mr. Medina waived his personal appearance and arraignment on August 31, 1982 (R. 1596). That same day he entered a written plea of not guilty. <u>Id</u>.

Mr. Medina was tried before a jury in Orange County on March 15 through 18, 1983. The jury returned guilty verdicts (R. 1850-1852). The jury recommended a sentence of death and the trial court followed its recommendation (R. 1875, 1877-1879).

On direct appeal, the Supreme Court of Florida affirmed the convictions and sentence. <u>Medina v. State</u>, 466 So. 2d 1046 (Fla. 1985).

Mr. Medina was considered for clemency in 1987. Clemency was denied.

On June 5, 1987, Mr. Medina filed a motion to vacate judgment of conviction and sentence. The trial court held an evidentiary hearing. On February 6, 1989, Judge Powell denied all relief.

Mr. Medina appealed the denial of his postconviction motion to the Supreme Court of Florida. The Court affirmed the lower court's decision. <u>State v. Medina</u>, 573 So. 2d 293 (Fla. 1990).

The Supreme Court of Florida later denied Mr. Medina's state petition for writ of habeas corpus. <u>Medina v. Dugger</u>, 586 So. 2d 317 (Fla. 1991).

Mr. Medina filed a federal petition for writ of habeas corpus which was denied on February 16, 1993. The Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed. <u>Medina v. Singletary</u>, 59 F.3d 1095 (11th Cir. 1995), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 116 S. Ct. 2505 (1996).

On October 23, 1996, the Florida Supreme Court issued an Administrative Order establishing a procedure for providing capital postconviction litigants with conflict-free counsel. In conformity with the October 23 Administrative Order, a Notice of Conflict was filed in Mr. Medina's case on October 28, 1996.

On October 30, 1996, the Governor signed a warrant for Mr. Medina's death which was to be carried out the week of December 2 through 9, 1996.

On November 1, 1996, the lower court held a hearing on the Notice of Conflict (PC-R2. 57-122).

On November 5, 1996, Judge Powell issued an order directing CCR to assign new counsel to Mr. Medina's case and directing a conflicted Gail Anderson and Michael Minerva to not contact Pedro Medina or appear in subsequent proceedings on his behalf. CCR filed a notice of appeal.

On November 12, 1996, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed.

On November 25, 1996, undersigned counsel filed a motion to disqualify Judge Powell. On November 26, 1996, Judge Powell disqualified himself, and Judge Conrad was assigned to the case.

On December 2, 1996, Mr. Medina's counsel informed the Governor that Mr. Medina may be incompetent to be executed. The Governor pursuant to § 922.07, Fla. Stat., stayed the execution.

On December 6, 1996, undersigned counsel filed an unverified motion to vacate the judgment and sentence on behalf of Mr. Medina (PC-R. 4-287). Counsel also filed a motion requesting a determination of Mr. Medina's competency to proceed (PC-R. 301-75).

On December 10, 1996, Judge Conrad held a status conference. He informed the parties that he would likely be assigned to hear any 3.811 motions in addition to the 3.850. He asked the parties for a discussion of what issues would likely be coming up and the order in which they would need to be addressed.

On January 6, 1997, Governor Chiles reset Mr. Medina's execution for January 29, 1997.

On January 8, 1997, Judge Conrad called up a status conference on thirty minutes notice. Judge Conrad indicated that he would first hear the parties on the motion for a hearing on competency to proceed at a hearing to be set by an order to be issued later in the day. Subsequently, an order was issued setting the hearing for January 14, 1997. There was no indication that the hearing was an evidentiary hearing.

On January 10, 1997, undersigned counsel filed a 3.811 motion to determine Mr. Medina's competency to be executed (PC-R2. 6-43).

On January 14, 1997, the hearing on Mr. Medina's motion for a determination of competency to proceed was held. After hearing argument, Judge Conrad ruled that there was no right in postconviction to be competent to proceed. The judge then indicated that he would nevertheless immediately commence an evidentiary hearing to determine Mr. Medina's competency. The judge indicated that Mr. Medina's counsel should have anticipated that evidence would be heard. He would not give counsel time to obtain the three experts who Mr. Medina's counsel wished to call to say that Mr. Medina was not competent.

On January 15, 1997, Judge Conrad issued his order finding that there was no right to be competent to proceed in postconviction (PC-R. 746-50). In the alternative, the court held that the State had proved Mr. Medina competent after holding a hearing that Mr. Medina's counsel had received no notice would be evidentiary.

On January 16, 1997, Judge Conrad issued an order finding that Mr. Medina's counsel had not issued any reasonable grounds for believing Mr. Medina not competent to be executed (PC-R2. 498-99).

On January 16, 1997, Judge Conrad set Mr. Medina's 3.850 for hearing on January 21, 1997. After the State requested that the setting be for a <u>Huff</u> hearing, Judge Conrad issued an order on January 17, 1997, clarifying that the January 21, 1997, was in fact a <u>Huff</u> hearing at which evidence would not be heard (PC-R. 856-57).

On January 17, 1997, the State filed an answer to the 3.850 motion filed on December 6, 1996 (PC-R. 872-93).

On January 21, 1997, a <u>Huff</u> hearing was held.

On January 21, 1997, undersigned counsel filed a motion for rehearing as to the ruling on Mr. Medina's right to a competency proceed determination (PC-R. 897-925). and a reconsideration as to the ruling on the 3.811 motion (PC-R2 501-769). Judge Conrad denied both motions (PC-R. 995-96; PC-R2. 771-73).

On January 23, 1997, Judge Conrad issued an order denying the 3.850 without an evidentiary hearing (PC-R. 926-78). Mr. Medina filed a Motion for Rehearing (PC-R. 979-92), which Judge Conrad denied on the same day (PC-R. 993-94).

Mr. Medina filed a notice of appeal in both the 3.850 and 3.811 proceedings on January 24, 1997 (PC-R. 1007-08; PC-R@. 774-75). Oral argument was had in this Court on January 27, 1997. That same day, this Court stayed Mr. Medina's execution pending further order of the Court.

On February 10, 1997, this Court issued an opinion, with one dissent, remanding the case to the circuit court for an evidentiary hearing on the issue of whether Mr. Medina is competent to be executed. This Court also denied, with three dissents, Mr. Medina's appeal regarding the issues raised in his Rule 3.850 motion.

This Court's order compelled the circuit court to hold the evidentiary hearing and issue an order within twenty-one days of this Court's mandate, which issued on February 10, 1997.

On February 13, 1997, Judge Conrad set an evidentiary hearing to begin on February 20, 1997.

On February 13, 1997, Mr. Medina filed a Request for Witness List. On February 14, 1997, the State responded to Mr. Medina's Request for Witness list and filed a Motion for Order Allowing Mental State Examination of Defendant.

On February 17, 1997, the circuit court issued orders rescheduling the evidentiary hearing for February 24, 1997, appointing Dr. Alan Berns, M.D., Dr. Jeffrey Danziger, M.D., and Dr. Eric Mings, Ph.D. to evaluate Mr. Medina to determine whether the lacks mental capacity to understand the fact of the pending execution and the reason for it, denying Mr. Medina's Request for Witness List, and denying the State's Motion for Order Allowing Mental State Examination of Defendant.

On February 18, 1997, the circuit court issued an Amended Order, removing Dr. Berns and Dr. Danziger from the evaluation of Mr. Medina and replacing them with Dr. Michael Gutman, M.D. The court's order scheduled the evaluation for February 19, 1997. The court further ordered that the doctors write a report and file the report with the court on February 21, 1997. The court further ordered that Doctors Mings and Gutman provide copies of their reports to counsel for Mr. Medina and the State.

On February 18, 1997, the State filed a Renewed Motion for Order Granting Access to Defendant to Conduct Mental Status Examination. On the same day, the circuit court denied the State's Renewed Motion.

On February 19, 1997, Mr. Medina filed an Objection to Amended Order, objecting to the Court's appointment of Dr. Gutman.

On February 19, 1997, Dr. Mings and Dr. Gutman conducted an evaluation of Mr. Medina at Florida State Prison.

On February 21, 1997, Dr. Gutman provided his report to the court, counsel for Mr. Medina, and the State. Mr. Medina did not receive a copy of Dr. Mings' report on February 21, as the circuit court had ordered.

The evidentiary hearing commenced on February 24, 1997, and concluded on February 27, 1997. On March 3, 1997, twenty-one days after this Court's mandate issued, Judge Conrad issued an Order Regarding Defendant's Insanity to be Executed. Judge Conrad determined that, while it could "probably be said that Defendant suffers from some form of mental pathology or mental illness," that counsel for Mr. Medina have not established by clear and convincing evidence that Mr. Medina was incompetent to be executed.

Mr. Medina filed a Motion for Rehearing on March 11, 1997. The State filed a response, and the court denied Mr. Medina's Motion for Rehearing on March 11, 1997. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

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