FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAR 17 1997

PEDRO MEDINA, Appellant,

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT Chief Deputy Clerk

v.

#90085 CASE NO. DEATH WARRANT

STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

> ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA

> > ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY FLA. BAR 0998818

JUDY TAYLOR RUSH ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 444 Seabreeze Blvd., 5th Fl Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (904) 238-4990

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

On cross, Sergeant Zook described Medina's courtroom behavior as "talking to himself." (R 899). When asked by Defense Counsel whether Medina had been doing something that struck him as unusual, Sergeant Zook replied: "His whole behavior in court is unusual to me. Of course, it does not correspond in the way he acts in the van. His whole actions here are unusual to me." (R 901).

Sergeant Zook explained an incident involving Medina and feces

45

He also sat in court near Medina throughout the entire hearing. (R 900).

Medina was stabbed and seriously injured while in prison.

which had caused a brief recess in the hearing the previous day. (R 903-905). He said:

There was actually no visible feces in the napkin. . . [W]e observed this inmate later and clipped his fingernails and actually underneath his fingernails. So when he was over there eating the papers and licking his fingers he must have made the feces wet and getting on his hands and that's when we notified the bailiff that we needed to leave.

(R 905).

Later after the most recent stay, after Medina went on Phase Three, Sergeant Kilgore talked with Medina again. (R 907). He "asked him how he was doing." (R 907). Medina replied: "I'm doing

The sergeant had had regular contact with Medina, five days a week, for "about 27 months" when he was on S-Wing in the mid 80's. (R 912). After that, Medina was transferred to Union Correctional, and the sergeant did not see him again until he was transferred back to Florida State Prison when his death warrant was signed on October 31, 1996. (R 912).

a whole lot better now " (R 907).

Still later, on Sunday, February 16, 1997, Sergeant Kilgore went to talk to Medina. (R 907). The following occurred:

I asked him, I said, how you doing; he said doing bad. I said what do you mean; he said the Supreme Court has turned me down. He said it's over for me. 48 We talked a while.

The Daytona 500 came on, we watched part of it. I talked to him and he told me he just wished that there was some way that they could send his body back to Cuba. 49 . . .

We talked throughout the day. All through the Daytona 500. . . . [W]e talked about reading in Revelations. 50

He told me that he was learning to speak German, told me that the hardest language to speak is English We talked about several things during the day.

(R 908). When asked if Medina talked about his conviction that day, the sergeant replied: "Um, at one point he talked about that he was innocent and he didn't elaborate on it." (R 908).

The sergeant added that they conversed about the race itself, what was going on, and the people involved. (R 908). "He stated to me that he didn't know anything about a race, that he had never

50

Medina told the sergeant that "his lawyer called him and told him that." (R 914).

At that point, Sergeant Kilgore was asked: "Was that reference in regard to his pending execution?" He answered: "Yes." (907).

That same day, Medina also told the sergeant that "he had met this Presbyterian preacher that had a church in Gainesville and that he was coming and visiting with him." (R 910).

been to a race before and when they had a caution he would want to know what was going on and I explained to him " (R 908-909).

Sergeant Kilgore testified that all of his conversations with Medina were in English. (R 909). He said that Medina "was talking normal," and he talked about his life in Cuba and "things that happened over there." (R 913). Medina also told him that his family had sent his sister and brother to the United States by boat as he had come. (R 913).

At one point that day, Medina's behavior suddenly changed. Sergeant Kilgore explained:

The captain came down and asked me how I was doing and walked on in and started talking with the inmate and he talked for a few minutes with him. The captain asked him what he was on death row for and he says Well I did not do it, I'm innocent and dropped it at that and in about ten seconds, probably, he started talking about people, I assume, that was in Cuba, because I didn't know any of the names. He says yeah you know so and so and he named them and he says yeah you know them, like I had been with him all his life.

(R 910). When the captain "exited through the grill gate," Medina returned to the normal behaviors he had exhibited throughout the earlier part of the day. (R 910).

Sergeant Kilgore also related the circumstances of his most recent contact with Medina. It occurred the Sunday before the start of the subject evidentiary hearing on Monday. (R 910).

. . . I was assigned the Q Wing, I was supervisor, I was down talking with Inmate Medina and Officer Brinson came down and said the captain is on his way back up, so we had been talking and I started exiting. I told him [Medina] I've got to go upstairs, the

captain is coming to talk to me.

. . . I went on upstairs. . . . We heard some noise, Officer Brinson walked down to the edge of the steps there and said I want you to listen at him down there and he was just talking, I guess to himself, because there wasn't anybody there.

(R 911). The captain visited Sergeant Kilgore and left. "Very shortly after that we never heard anything else out of him." (R 911).

Florida State Prison Superintendent Ronald D. McAndrew testified that it is his job to "oversee the entire execution process." (R 916). The superintendent said that inmates throwing fecal matter is a common occurrence at the prison. (R 916). He explained:

Oftentimes, as far as fecal matter itself is concerned, it most normally involve inmates who are confined to a single cell and it may involve cell extraction. Inmates are required to be removed from cells on a daily basis for reasons, a[nd] sundry medical treatment, psychological examinations, to go out for job assignments, all sorts of things. oftentimes refuse to leave their Inmates This involves the use of either cells. chemical, electrical or physical force to remove the inmates from the cell. Inmates will very oftentimes rub fecal matter over their bodies and challenge those trying to remove him from the cell.

(R 916-917).

Superintendent McAndrew testified that he had had personal contact with Medina "[f]or approximately the past three months." (R 917). The superintendent testified that Medina's "mental health classification at the Department of Corrections" is "S-1." (R

918). He explained: "[W] hich means that if he were not on death row, . . he would be subject to almost any job assignment unless he had a physical health impairment." (R 918).

Regarding the content of the logs which the corrections officers require to keep on death row inmates, are superintendent said: "They are specifically required to note breaches of security, . . . security checks, . , , anything highly unusual that would be considered an incident." (R 918). Superintendent McAndrew said that Captain Tim Giebieg was sent on a special assignment to Tallahassee in "the early part of December, 1996 'to address a highly complex problem." (R 919, 925). As a result, he was released from his normal duties for "as much time as he could dedicate during the months of December and January." (R 920).

The superintendent described the key used to permit personnel to see Medina while he was on Phase Two. "The key is approximately seven and one half to 8 inches lonk (sic), solid brass, heavy, it's a Folger Adams key and usually, if it's on a chain with several other keys it tends to make a lot of noise in the sense of banging, clanging." (R 920). Superintendent McAndrew then described the following events regarding Medina:

On at least two occasions . . . I arrived at the . . . lower deck of Q Wing where this (sic) a grill cage, and a sergeant is normally inside of this cage if an inmate is on death watch, and I've had the sergeant motion to me with his finger and whisper to me if you will be quiet you can (demonstrating - 'a shushing motion") . . , I was told if I would be quiet I could hear Medina in his normal state. . . .

Normal conversation between Mr. Medina and the officer working front cell.

(R 922). At that time, the superintendent "could hear normal conversation coming from the inmate in the cell." (R 925). Thereafter, the superintendent entered:

which would involve the clanging of these large Folger Adams keys and tumbler locks and as the noise of my coming through these two large gates would reach that area, I would began hearing Mr. Medina flying an airplane or acting out in some sort.

(R 922).

Superintendent McAndrew related two specific conversations he had recently had with Medina. On January 27, 1997:

. . . I talked to him and asked him if everything was all right and he indicated that it was. I asked if the Food Service Director had had the opportunity to talk to him yet and he said the Food Service Director had come to see him and that he had given his request for his last meal.⁵¹

(R 922). As the superintendent began to leave, Medina said:

There's just one thing about my last meal; he says I forgot to ask for strawberry syrup and I told him that we could take care of that, that I would handle it; that I would make sure that he got a strawberry topping for his ice cream and he very specifically said to me I don't want that topping stuff, I want the sweet syrup and I said we will take care of that.⁵²

(R 923).

⁵¹

Medina specifically used the term 'last meal." (R 922).

⁵²

The superintendent did, indeed, give written instructions to the Food Service Director regarding the strawberry topping. (R 878).

Another conversation testified to occurred on February 17,

The superintendent went to see Medina and "asked him about his human needs , , .." (R 923). Medina "indicated that he was getting everything he needed in terms of food, medical care and writing paper that sort of thing, his mail" (R 923). He then asked Superintendent McAndrew 'if a new execution date had been set for him." (R 923). The superintendent replied: "[N]ot as far as I was aware of, that normally information of this nature would reach him first through his own attorneys" (R 923).

At the conclusion of Superintendent McAndrew's testimony, the State rested its case in chief. (R 926-927).

Medina called his attorney, Tim Schardl, as a rebuttal witness. (R 927). Mr. Schardl attempted to testify that Medina told him during a telephone conversation on October 16, 1996 that he "had a bump or bruise or something on his head and that he thought he got it from a guard that he had been in a fight, or something happened with a guard" or "that it might have happened while he was picking tomatoes." (R 929). The State objected, and Medina's counsel tried to justify the testimony claiming that it rebutted a corrections officer's testimony "that Medina confessed to the murder to him shortly after 10:30 at night, when Medina was

⁵³

The videotape shows that at the interview with doctors Mings and Gutman, Medina asked Dr. Gutman whether a new execution date had been set for him. (R 242).

"in the clinic being treated for a head injury and the officer said he never saw a head injury." (R 930).

As the State pointed out, "there's nothing in evidence that Mr. Medina was in the clinic." (R 930). Further, the corrections officer who testified to "a confession" at approximately 10:30 p.m. was Officer Padgett. He testified that the incident occurred in January, not October. (R 883). Also, as the trial judge pointed out, Officer Padgett did not deny that Medina had an injury, he simply said he did not notice one if he had one. Further, there was no attempt to introduce properly authenticated prison clinic records, 54 rather, Medina wanted to establish that Medina had been in the clinic at the relevant time with the double hearsay of the defendant and his attorney even though his attorney admitted: "I have the records custodian under subpoena" (R 931, 932, 935). The trial judge sustained the State's objection "as to Mr. Schardl's testimony as we reach this point." (R 934). After a recess, the trial judge ruled: "[T]here is no evidentiary predicate to allow rebuttal along those lines at all, and that's the reason it's being denied in its entirety." (R 940)

Two videotapes were played in the trial court. One was the February 19, 1997 interviews of Doctors Mings and Gutman. The other was the December, 1996 interview of Dr. Teich. The court reporters recorded as much as they could of the English spoken on

⁵⁴

As the State asserted, Mr. Schardl was "not the custodian of those records." (R 932).

the videotapes. However, the full import of the content of those tapes can only be comprehended by viewing them. Nonetheless, the State references several statements and/or topics which appear in the transcripts of the videotaped presentations.

- (1) Medina acknowledged that he talks with the correctional officers in English, and he agreed that he was able to talk to Doctors Mings and Gutman in English. (R 224).
- (2) Medina's response to Dr. Gutman's question as to the date, "19th of February, 1979." (R 234-235).
- (3) The trial judge addresses Medina: "Pedro, I appreciate your singing, but you need to be quiet." (R 235).
- (4) The Doctor states: "You are acting loco and crazy. Medina responds: "Yeah." (R 238).
- (5) Dr. Gutman tells Medina he has been a psychiatrist for 33 year and that he has 'seen many people and examined many people and some people fake mental illness." Medina replies: "What -- Why would I fake mental illness?" (R 239).
- (6) Dr. Gutman asks: "You know you are being executed, that there will be an execution if the stay is removed?" Medina responds: "When that happen?" Dr. Gutman replies: "I don't know." Medina asks: 'When that happen?" (R 242).
- (7) Dr. **Gutman** asks Medina to turn around and look at the lady behind him, and then to look over his other shoulder and look at the gentleman, and he does both. (R 243).
- (8) Medina suggests that "the execution" is "like in the concentration camp . , .." (R 246).

- (9) Dr. Gutman tells Medina he thinks he understands more than he is willing to talk about and he's faking in order to avoid the execution. Medina responds: 'Yeah." (R 246).
- (10) Dr. Gutman asks Medina is he knows "about the offense? Did somebody die?" Medina responds: *Yeah. Yeah." Then, he starts talking about a "blue shirt." (R 274).
- (11) Dr. Mings asks Medina whether he has trouble concentrating. He then said he wanted 'to see how good your concentration and your memory is." He proceeded to explain a simple test which Medina would not cooperate with. (R 249-252).
- (12) Dr. **Gutman** tells Medina: "I don't think you're crazy, I think you are very smart, and I think you are very sane. I'll tell you that and I will." Medina responds: "Thank you. You're very smart." Dr. **Gutman** says: "Thank you." Medina rejoins: "And we compliment each other we might go and get married, you know?" (R 252-253).
- (13) Dr. Gutman suggests: ". . . it's only been in the last month that you've started to act this way." Medina replies: "No, that's, urn ---" (R 257).
- (14) After Dr. Gutman told Medina he was Dr. Gutman and then telling him he was Dr. Sepae, Medina says: "You lying, man. You lie, man. . . Dr. Gutman points out: . . . Now, you said it's a lie. You knew the difference between the truth and a lie." (R 259).
- (15) One of the doctors asked Medina to "read what it says on this sheet." Medina refuses, saying: "I want to read German.

That's what I want to read." The doctor prods: "Do me a favor and try and read this." Medina replies: "I want to -- if its in German, I'll read it." (R 265-266).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court properly found that Medina does not satisfy the Rule 3.812 criteria for insanity for execution. The decision of the trial court is based upon that Court's consideration of all of the evidence relative to insanity, and, because it is not an abuse of discretion, should be affirmed in all respects. That decision is supported by competent, substantial evidence, and should not be disturbed.

Medina's claim that Cooper v. Oklahoma, applies to the Rule 3.812 proceeding was decided adversely to Medina by this Court in its February IO, 1997, opinion. There is no reason to revisit that issue at this time. Cooper applies to the issue of competence to stand trial, which is not the same concept as sanity for execution. Alternatively and secondarily, regardless of the quantum of proof required to establish insanity for purposes of execution, Medina cannot prevail on his claim because the evidence against him is overwhelming. Even if there is error associated with the application of the clear and convincing standard to this case, any such error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Medina's March 11, 1997 'Motion for Rehearing" was properly denied by the trial court because Rule 3.812 does not allow the filing of a motion for rehearing; because the motion attempts to

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